CENDEP Working Paper Series No 01-2021

Deaf Refugees: A critical review of the current literature

Kate McAuliff

Centre for Development and Emergency Practice Oxford Brookes University



The CENDEP working paper series intends to present work in progress, preliminary research findings of research, reviews of literature and theoretical and methodological reflections relevant to the fields of development and emergency practice.

The views expressed in the paper are only those of the independent author who retains the copyright. Comments on the papers are welcome and should be directed to the author.

Author: Kate McAuliff

Institutional address (of the Author): CENDEP, Oxford Brookes University

Author's email address: 19043327@brookes.ac.uk

Doi: https://doi.org/10.24384/cendep.WP-01-2021

Date of publication: April 2021

Centre for Development and Emergency Practice (CENDEP)
School of Architecture
Oxford Brookes University
Oxford
cendep@brookes.ac.uk

© 2021 The Author(s). This open access article is distributed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-No Derivative Works (CC BY-NC-ND) 4.0 License.

Table of Contents

Abstract4	
1.	Introduction5
2.	Deaf Refugee Agency & Double Displacement7
3.	Deaf Refugees Outside of Third Country Resettlement9
4.	Deaf Refugees in the Middle East12
5.	Deaf Refugees in and out of the Refugee Camp15
6.	Deaf Refugees' Place-making through DeafSpace17
7.	Deaf Refugees of a Shared Language Family19
8.	Deaf Refugees' Intersectionality and Transnationalism22
9.	Deaf Refugee Adults26
10.	Deaf Refugees Beyond the Media29
11.	Deaf Refugees as Research Partners & Participants33
12.	Deaf Refugees within the Disabled Refugee Literature36
13.	Conclusion43
Refe	erences 46

Abstract

This working paper presents a critical literature review of the current body of research about deaf refugees; a global population that is largely overlooked. While the literature is limited, this analysis provides insight into what is and is not known and explored about this marginalized demographic. To understand the current research about deaf refugees, an extensive and systematic review of existing literature was conducted. This review resulted in an analysis of how the current literature has largely (A) left multiple contextual gaps regarding deaf refugees, particularly those outside of the global North and (B) has generally limited the understanding of deaf refugees as victims or users within a system or related to an institution, thus overlooking deaf refugee agency. More importantly, this analysis identifies the need for increased research with deaf refugees and increased inclusion of deaf refugee research in the fields of Deaf Studies, Disability Studies, and Refugee Studies.

1. Introduction

There are 70.8 million forcibly displaced¹ people worldwide, 25.9 million of them are refugees² (UNHCR, 2018a). Among this population are refugees who are deaf³. However, the number of deaf refugees globally, or in any localized refugee population, is unknown. According to the World Health Organization (WHO, 2011), about 15% of the world's population has a disability. The number of deaf people globally is reported by the World Federation of the Deaf (WFD, 2016b) as about 70 million. Crock et al. (2017) estimated that there are about 10 million refugees with disabilities worldwide. Despite any attempts, or due to the lack of attempts, to triangulate these figures, the number of deaf refugees remains unknown, and the research about this population is scarce.

Nevertheless, there are several scholars who have explored the experiences of this unique minority. These scholars have built and continue to contribute to the emerging field of research about and with deaf refugees. This literature review includes the current

⁻

¹ A displaced person has left their home or residence and has either relocated within their national border or beyond their national border out of force or obligation due to the events of or related effects of: generalized violence, armed conflict, persecution, human rights violations, human made or natural disasters. A displaced person may be an: Internally Displaced Person (IDP), Asylum Seeker, Refugee prima facie, Refugee (having the status in accordance with the 1951 Convention), Refugee sur place, a Forced Migrant, or a victim of Human Trafficking (IOM, 2019).

² While this study focuses on refugees, research about Deaf migrants, asylum seekers, and other deaf persons who are displaced or migrate is included in this literature review and is foundational to this research.

³ Within the Deaf Community, many spell the word 'Deaf' with a capital 'D' to represent the community of people who have a shared experience of deafness (a hearing disability) and who share a culture and use a signed language. It is the understanding of these users that when 'deaf' is spelled with a lowercase 'd' it represents only the audiological disability of a person to hear. Some use 'D/deaf' or 'd/Deaf' to denote inclusion. However, some recent understanding throughout the global Deaf Community sees use of 'Deaf' as a construct of racial/socio/geo/national/political privilege, creating hierarchies where inclusion should be. Therefore, this study will default to using 'deaf' to include all deaf persons and experiences, and only capitalize 'Deaf' in relation to the Deaf Community, Deaf Culture, Deaf Studies, etc.

literature, humanitarian reporting, and media about deaf⁴ refugees⁵ and comprises ten thematic sections. Each section presents a gap in the current literature (A) regarding deaf refugees in a certain context and (B) limiting the understanding of deaf refugees as victims or users within a system or related to an institution.

An intention of this review is to practice "...attending systematically to the context of knowledge construction, especially to the effect of the researcher" (Cohen & Crabtree, 2006) and recognize how those of socio-geo-political privilege conduct research while (or with the aim to) challenge existing hegemonies (Kusters et al., 2017). My positionality as a white hearing person who is not a refugee is at the forefront of my reflexivity while presenting this study. I write this statement for transparency and accountability and I heed the leadership and expertise of deaf researchers and researchers from refugee backgrounds.

This critical literature review was produced as a part of the PhD project, *Deaf Refugees in Jordan and Lebanon*, which aims to address the recommendations set out in this review. This research project centers on the experiences of deaf refugees from Syria, Palestine, and Iraq who are in Jordan and Lebanon, with a particular focus on agency. This research would not be possible without the foundational efforts of many of the scholars included in this literature review. Therefore, the purpose of this review is to contextualize, make recommendations, and sometimes challenge – but not to diminish or reject any of the following work about or with deaf refugees.

_

⁴ The word 'deaf' will be used for the remainder of this literature review reflecting the approach that all deaf (Deaf, d/Deaf) persons are part of the Deaf community including those framed in the literature as 'deaf', 'hearing impaired, or having a 'communication disability', etc.

⁵ All of the research about D/deaf refugees which was (A) available in English; (B) accessible within the resources of the author and the facilities of Oxford Brookes University; (C) exists to the knowledge of the author.

2. Deaf Refugee Agency & Double Displacement

The current body of literature about deaf refugees would be enriched by (A) deaf refugee contexts which have been scarcely studied and (B) deaf refugee agency including, but not reduced to, their experience within institutions and structures. This analysis defines agency as the capacity of all individuals to make their own choices and exercise their will (Barker, 2005). Deaf refugee agency manifests in a multitude of ways. This includes how and with whom to form social networks and utilize social capital. It also includes any strategic decision making deaf refugees employ while navigating inaccessibility and marginalization. Deaf refugees' agency is also exercised through their choices about how to identify and behave despite stigma and discrimination. This definition of agency goes beyond deaf refugees' experiences within institutional and cultural structures and takes a wider view of their agency as a common thread throughout their lived experience – particularly their experience of displacement. Social capital and ways of being within structures or domains is varied for deaf refugees as they move through hearing and deaf spaces and as their relationships and habitus (Bourdieu, 1990) change based on each context.

Conceptualizations of agency from the academic fields of feminism, disability, displacement and migration, and deafness are foundational to this review. Each of these perspectives provides insight into how power dynamics affect the agency of deaf refugees. Deaf refugees demonstrate their agency in how they think and act strategically among structures and systems which are highly contextual and cultural. Deaf refugees navigate constraints in these systems through what Kandiyoti, in the feminist scholarship, calls "patriarchal bargains" (1988, p.274), noting that these bargains are made in order to cope and resist as well as to pursue security and options. Deaf refugee agency is not deployed at random, their 'self-determination' (Wehmeyer, 2004) is a reflection of their individual culture, values, beliefs and experiences. Deaf refugee agency can be enabled, disabled, oppressed, or facilitated by structures over time, as is seen for people with disabilities (Berger, 2008). The embodied nature of agency makes it

especially applicable to both disability and refugee studies. As Berger (2008, p.309) notes, the body is "the vehicle through which agency and structure are enacted". Importantly, scholars such as Bartram (2015), explore the relationship between forced migration or displacement and agency. The forced displacement of people is not evidence of their lack of agency or control, it is demonstrative of their choices when faced with dire circumstances. Deaf refugees are not cast about in the circumstances of deafness, disability, and displacement, they are continuously demonstrating their agency in the contexts of these life factors. Agency for deaf people has the unique lens of language (Ahearn, 2001; Senghas & Monaghan, 2002). The rich diversity of culture and humanity comes from the agency of deaf people as they build communities worldwide (Ladd, 2005; Bauman & Murray, 2009). Deaf refugee agency is nuanced in the ways that make this minority unique, such as linguistic and cultural factors that are not passed through family or geography. However, perspectives of agency from each of these fields provides insight into how deaf refugee agency is consistent with each layer of deaf, disabled, refugee, and minority agency - culminating in a rich example of human agency.

Deaf refugees are displaced twice. If they are born deaf to hearing families, as nearly 90% of those who are deaf at birth are (Mitchell & Karchmer, 2004; NCDS, 2020), they are born into displacement. From birth they are missing from the deaf world they are a part of, and are living in a hearing world with language and communication that does not come naturally or is inaccessible. Others may become deaf in childhood or later in life through illness or injury, becoming displaced from the hearing world they knew. As deaf people, they navigate displacement in the hearing world, they are then displaced again by conflict, war, violence, disaster, persecution, human rights violations or other factors and become refugees. Deaf refugees experience both displacements simultaneously and move between them in different contexts. This doubled displacement makes the experience of deaf refugees a unique examination of displacement and agency.

3. Deaf Refugees Outside of Third Country Resettlement

The vast majority of the current literature about deaf refugees focuses on the experiences or needs of deaf refugees who have arrived in host countries for resettlement⁶, a third country⁷. These third countries are typically in the West or global North, including: North America, United Kingdom, Western Europe, Scandinavia, and Australia. Literature about deaf refugees' displacement experiences other than or prior to resettlement – internally displaced or in a regional host country for a short or protracted stay – is limited. The current literature focuses on the minority of displaced persons: those who resettle in the global North. According to UNHCR, 92,400 refugees were admitted for resettlement in 25 countries out of the 70.8 million people displaced by the end of 2018 (UNHCR, 2018a). Following these figures, there is contextual gap in the literature as the majority of research about deaf refugees focuses on those within only 1.3% of the displaced population. Further research is needed to (A) explore the deaf refugee experience within the displaced population outside of the global North; and (B) highlight deaf refugee agency which is not limited to experiences within systems and institutions in the global North.

Typically, studies explore service provision and related barriers to it (Saghir, 2017; Balachandra et al., 2009), an undeniably vital subject for deaf refugees. However, this research may provide more information about the system than about the deaf refugees navigating it. This literature consistently provides evidence of the shared experience of deaf migrants from many different countries of origin (Emery & Iyer, no date) who have the shared experience and challenges of: communication and linguistic barriers (Willoughby, 2008), knowledge access challenges, advocating for their self-expression and autonomy (Barpaga, 2011), lack of service accessibility, stigma, marginalization, and

⁶ Resettlement is the movement of people from the country where they sought protection to a different State which has or intends to admit them as refugees until they are granted asylum or other opportunities to become permanent residents and citizens (IOM, 2019; UNHCR, 2011).

⁷ Third Country Resettlement is one of the durable solutions under the UNHCR, the other two being local integration and voluntary repatriation (UNHCR, 2011).

complex connections and misconnections to the local Deaf Community and hearing public (Sivunen, 2019).

In the UK, multiple studies have been conducted with deaf labor migrants (Emery & Iyer, no date) and deaf asylum seekers (Breen, 2002) including how their experiences are shaped by gender, intersectionality, language and communication (Emery, 2020), language learning, politics and engagement in public settings. Some case studies of deaf refugees also exist, namely one short film depicting the true story of a deaf person from Afghanistan seeking asylum in London, which also includes the consistent themes of communication barriers and lack of information due to the asylum seeker's deafness, resulting in the three-time denial of their asylum application (Barpaga, 2011). Similar findings are recognized in research about deaf migrants in Victoria, Australia, focusing on the needs and barriers they face while navigating Australian culture, society, and spoken and signed languages (Willoughby, 2008). Barriers to services and the challenges in accessing language, education, and community building in Australia for deaf migrants are consistent with research globally. For many deaf migrants, home sign⁸ is commonly used and communication barriers were exacerbated due the lack of a developed first language (Willoughby, 2008). Deaf refugee resettlement in Finland and Norway presents similar themes of barriers, connection with the local Deaf Community, and the challenges of acquiring both a new signed language and a new spoken language simultaneously (Sivunen, 2019; Olsen, 2018; 2019).

Similarly, a modest body of research and activity has developed in the United States. Particularly in New York state, where there is a growing population of deaf refugees due to the large Deaf Community around a university which offers education in sign language⁹. Research about deaf refugees in this area (Mendoza, 2016; Saghir, 2017)

⁸ Home sign is a term used to describe the communication methods used by deaf people and their families when they have no or little access to a formal sign language (i.e. no other deaf persons or Deaf Education in their area). Their gestural communication develops naturally but is not a full language and may not be intelligible to those outside of their family.

⁹ National Technical Institute for the Deaf (NTID) at the Rochester Institute of Technology (RIT) in Rochester, New York

includes brief and general views of the lived experiences of deaf refugees. Issues of education, communication, and employment are additionally complex and rife with barriers for deaf refugees (Mendoza, 2016). The inaccessibility of the healthcare system is of particular interest (Saghir, 2017; Balachandra et al., 2009), highlighting the impact of communication and language barriers, as well as the importance of cultural facilitation and the use of interpreters. The discrimination and additional barriers deaf refugees have faced throughout history is presented by one study (Baynton, 2006), which includes examples of deaf migrants' experiences of discrimination, advocacy battles with support from hearing allies, communication barriers, and the fight to uphold their agency and autonomy that are consistent throughout the literature to present day – even after these discriminatory policies were slowly dismantled.

A contextual gap has resulted from how the experiences of deaf refugees prior to their arrival in their place of resettlement are largely erased. Understandably, these experiences are not the focus of many studies. However, as deaf refugees navigate asylum seeking procedures and attempt to access a multitude of services, displacement experiences are often the subject of discussion. Therefore, literature and information about deaf refugees during displacement has the potential to provide great insight in these settings. Increased scholarship about the displacement experiences of deaf refugees could greatly inform the resettlement-centered research, refugee and asylum seeking status decision making, as well as the work of professionals working with deaf refugees in legal, health, and psychosocial services. Fortunately, there are a few scholars who have explored the experiences of deaf refugees while displaced and prior to resettlement in the global North, all¹⁰ are focused in Kenya (le Marie, no date; 2018a; 2018b; Youngs, 2010) or Rwanda (Marshall et al., 2017).

¹⁰ In 1988, S.B. Lewis, write a Doctoral dissertation entitled 'A Family Sign Handbook: Teaching Sign Language to Family Members of Deaf Southeast Asian Refugees in the Holding Camp Environment' which could not be accessed. It is unclear what Lewis' account could contribute to knowledge about Deaf refugees, their language use, and their family systems in 'holding camps' and if these camps were located in Southeast Asia or in a host country in the global North (Lewis, 1988).

This literature also limits the understanding of deaf refugees in these contexts as users within medical, legal, or social institutions and structures. The focus on service provision and barriers to it is an undeniably vital subject for deaf refugees, but at times this research provides more information about the system than about the deaf refugees themselves. Given this approach, deaf refugee agency is largely missing from the current literature about deaf refugees who have resettled in third countries in the global North.

4. Deaf Refugees in the Middle East

The small collection of research regarding deaf refugees within the 98.7% (UNHCR, 2018a) of displaced persons who have not resettled in a third country is focused on Sub-Saharan Africa, specifically in Dadaab and Kakuma refugee camps in Kenya (le Marie, no date; 2018a; 2018b; Youngs, 2010). There is also a project in Rwanda exploring the vulnerability of refugees with 'communication disabilities' to sexual and gender-based violence (Marshall & Barrett, 2018; Marshall et al., 2017). Increased scholarship is needed to explore the parallels and divergences between deaf refugees in Sub-Saharan Africa and other global context, particularly the Middle East (A) due to the different geopolitical, cultural and linguistic contexts and (B) how deaf refugee agency operates for different deaf refugee demographics.

The current research demonstrates that the invisibility of deaf refugees in Rwanda increases their vulnerability, marginalization and lack of access, despite humanitarian disability inclusion efforts (Marshall et al., 2017; 2018). However, the high population of deaf refugees in Dadaab and Kakuma refugee camps may decrease the invisibility of deaf refugees through mere exposure, especially as there are deaf-centric services such as deaf education (le Marie, no date; 2018a; 2018b; Youngs, 2010). The resources and inclusion efforts for refugees with disabilities in humanitarian programming and services often overlook the existence or the unique needs of deaf refugees. Without the exceptional deaf refugee population density, as seen in Kenya, deaf-centric services are rare.

The vulnerability of deaf people and persons with disabilities to sexual and gender-based violence is often due to the perception that they are less able or unable to escape, resist and/or report. Refugees, particularly women and children, are also more vulnerable to sexual and gender-based violence. Deaf refugees, especially deaf refugee women and children, therefore, carry multiple vulnerabilities and furthermore, have less access to protective, preventative, reporting, and physical or mental health services (Marshall & Barrett, 2017; Marshall et al. 2018). In the 'Deaf Unit' of Dadaab refugee camp, a teacher explains that many girl students avoid going to school for fear of being raped (Youngs, 2010). Sexual and gender-based violence against refugees with disabilities, particularly in refugee camps, has been well documented in the literature. However, mention of or focus on deaf refugees in this situation is scarce.

Le Marie's (no date; 2020; 2018a; 2018b) work is immersed in the deaf community of Kakuma refugee camp in Kenya. Youngs (2010) also studied the situation of deaf refugees in Kenya, but in Dadaab refugee camp. These contexts differ in that Kakuma refugee camp is quite diverse with refugees from 13 countries, while those in Dadaab are predominantly from Somalia (le Marie, no date; UNHCR, 2020a). While Dadaab technically has more refugees and asylum seekers in its complex (UNHCR, 2020a), Kakuma is one of the most researched refugee camps worldwide (Rogers, 2019). Both studies align on the high concentration of deaf refugees which has led to substantial Deaf Education and other services. Despite this large number of deaf refugees, stigma and other barriers still exist in these Kenyan contexts.

The study in Dadaab refugee camp focuses on the experiences of deaf students as well as those involved in deaf education in the refugee camp (Youngs, 2010). The Deaf Units Youngs describes provide community, education, and social and linguistic development for deaf students. Overall, deaf students value their identity, language, and culture and want to ensure the Deaf Units uphold the educational standards and opportunities that are their human rights (Youngs, 2010). Le Marie's study explores the impact of diversity

for this community as deaf refugees from a multitude of national, ethnic, and linguistic backgrounds come together, and how deaf refugees interact with deaf Kenyans who are not refugees. Le Marie documented how deaf refugees from different backgrounds (i.e. Sudanese, Rwandan, Somali, Congolese, Burundian, Ethiopian, etc.) prioritized spending time together despite their differences (le Marie, 2018a). This was in contrast to the hearing refugees in Kakuma who tended to only socialize in nationally or ethnically homogenous groups (le Marie, 2018a). Le Marie also explores the intersectionalities of gender, religion and other factors and how that may impact activities and power structures of the deaf refugee community in Kakuma. Language use is also central to le Marie's work which includes the use of various national and regional sign languages as well as the local Kenyan Sign Language, and communication strategies with hearing refugees and service providers in the camp. Le Marie's work is not as education focused as the study in Dadaab, but language education is included especially as it produces DeafSpace¹¹ (le Marie, no date). Le Marie's research includes the role of humanitarianism and NGOs in the Deaf Community of Kakuma – particularly the problematic provision of hearing aids (le Marie, 2020).

It should be noted that an extensive study of the Jordanian Deaf Community and Jordanian Sign Language was conducted by Hendriks and Baker (2008). Similarly, a study about deaf sign language teachers in Jordan was conducted by Scott (2015). While these studies are useful to increase contextual understanding of the Deaf Community in Jordan, deaf refugees are not included in either study. Notably, in the Jordanian context, deafness and disability are associated with sinfulness, wickedness, or a lack of mental capacity. This is particularly true for people with visual, hearing, and speech disabilities (Turmusani, 1999), which is expected to have an impact on deaf refugee agency. The importance of spoken Arabic in Jordan and the region is expected to be a major element for deaf refugee agency through communication access and their right to sign language

_

¹¹ DeafSpace describes how Deaf people come together and use or manipulate space to make it visually oriented in language and action for full access to be achieved (Gallaudet, no date). The practical actions of creating DeafSpace are part of Deaf Culture. DeafSpace concepts are also applied to architecture and design (Edwards & Harold, 2014) (Gallaudet, no date).

access and free use. One scholar notes the ascension of a blind person to high levels in society due to their mastery of reciting the Qur'an – an opportunity particularly inaccessible to deaf people (Turmasani, 1999). The local perception of the Deaf Community and deaf refugees co-exist with perceptions from the global North through the presence of humanitarian programming and assistance.

The limited literature about deaf refugees who are displaced outside of the global North only provides information about deaf refugees in Kenya and Rwanda. While evidence from these studies is rich with information about the deaf refugee experience, it cannot be assumed that this experience is identical in other global contexts. While it is necessary for knowledge to be increased about deaf refugees in all global contexts of displacement, the high concentration of refugees and displaced persons in the Middle East leads this review to focus on recommending research in that region. Generally, further research is needed to fill (A) this geographic contextual gap and (B) explore how deaf refugee agency is shaped and enacted in other sociocultural and linguistic environments.

5. Deaf Refugees in and out of the Refugee Camp

Of the scarce research that explores the experiences of deaf refugees during displacement, it is not only all in Sub-Saharan Africa, but it also centers on the setting of the refugee camp (le Marie, no date; le Marie, 2020; le Marie, 2018a; le Marie, 2018b; Youngs, 2010). Refugees in Jordan and Lebanon reside in a variety of contexts both in and out of refugee camps. UNHCR reported in 2019 that of the 745,192 refugees in Jordan, 83.5% of them live in urban areas while 16.5% of refugees live the Zaatari, Azraq, and Emirati Jordanian refugee camps (UNHCR, 2019a). In Lebanon, UNHCR reported in 2020 that there were 1.5 million Syrian refugees and 18,000 refugees from Iraq and elsewhere (UNHCR, 2020b). In 2017, UNHCR reported that due to the government policy that no formal refugee camps be built in Lebanon to shelter Syrian refugees, 73% of all refugees reside in urban or rural areas in rented accommodation and about 30% live

with multiple families in one residence (UNHCR, 2017b). Of those who cannot afford or access this type of rental, 18%, live in informal settlements of tents and other self-made structures (UNHCR, 2017b). The remaining refugees, 9%, shelter in other structures which are non-residential such as farm or industrial buildings (UNHCR, 2017b). Therefore, research about deaf refugees in Jordan and Lebanon, among other global contexts, will bring this unique perspective as it includes deaf refugees residing in two national contexts as well as a variety of living situations. It is expected that these different environments each present their own opportunities and barriers to deaf refugees. For example, the structure of the refugee camp may make it easier for deaf refugees to come together. However, living in an urban environment may give deaf refugees more access to the local Jordanian or Lebanese Deaf Communities. Furthermore, research is needed to understand how deaf refugees living in a camp environment meet with deaf refugees living in an urban environment and vice versa; and the choices relating to each environment.

As seen in the literature, a refugee camp, settlement, or complex – such as in Kenyapresents deaf refugees with community building opportunities, structures and even facilities such as schools or a 'Deaf Unit' (le Marie, no date; 2020; 2018a; 2018b; Youngs, 2010). Refugee camps may also be the center of more activity by researchers, NGOs, and humanitarian institutions, drawing more attention to the inclusion of deaf refugees (le Marie, 2018a). A more concentrated population of deaf refugees in a refugee camp environment may mitigate the invisibility of this population, driving increased awareness and decreasing stigma, as is seen in Dadaab refugee camp (Youngs, 2010). However, the insecurity of a refugee camp environment regarding sexual and gender-based violence may make it a more vulnerable environment for deaf refugees (Marshall and Barrett, 2018; Marshall et al., 2017). An urban environment may decrease access to other deaf refugees due to a larger geography or lack of structure. Or, an urban environment may provide more access to the local Deaf Community and services such as Deaf Education at local schools such as FAID in Lebanon (Father Andeweg Institute for the Deaf, no date). An urban settlement may lack the influx of NGO and humanitarian

services that a camp environment has, but it may open access to specialized services that are not available in the camp.

Further scholarship is needed to answer these questions and more by including deaf refugees residing in refugee camps as well as urban and other settings. Future research can (A) broaden the current field of knowledge that is limited to the refugee camp setting. While also complementing the current literature as refugee camps in the Middle East and elsewhere will parallel with refugee camps in Kenya and Rwanda in terms of the deaf refugee experience. Furthermore, further scholarship can (B) explore how deaf refugee agency is enacted, enabled, or oppressed in various environments inside and outside of the refugee camp.

6. Deaf Refugees' Place-making through DeafSpace

Deafness and displacement are experiences and disciplines with deep connections to space and place. Displacement relates not only to the borders crossed but to how people actively inject meaning into space until it becomes infused with place and home. In 1900, the Paris World Fair welcomed deaf people from all over the world, proving the transnationalism of deaf people and inspiring a French deaf leader to claim that deaf people "know no borders" (Kusters and Friedner, 2015, pp.ix). Place and home making are concepts explored in the refugee studies literature, as displaced persons bring elements of the places they have left behind to new spaces and create meaningful attachments in order to cope, survive, and thrive (Lems, 2016; Zetter & Boano, 2009). These two instances of place-making, seen with deaf people and displaced persons, overlap and intersect within the deaf refugee experience. For deaf refugees, the place and home making may look different because the creation of DeafSpace is outside of the family structure and based on a shared identity that is not ethnic or national. Furthermore, how deaf refugees participate in the making of home and place with their hearing families and ethnic or national communities is a point of access or marginalization to be examined. Each of these instances is evidence of deaf refugee

agency through the making and inhabiting of place. Current literature about the transnational and international experiences of DeafSpace do not include how deaf refugees make and experience this, with the exception of le Marie (2018a). This example of deaf refugees creating DeafSpace in Kenya is not explored through the lens of the place making and home making practices of refugees in general. Further research can (A) bridge Deaf Studies and Refugee Studies in examining the experiences of deaf refugees through the DeafSpace lens as well as through the Refugee Studies place/home making lens, and (B) position and understand the deaf refugee construction of DeafSpace as a manifestation of their agency.

Refugees practice place making and home making in refugee settlements (Kaiser, 2008), in urban settlements, and remake place if resettling in third countries (Sampson & Gifford, 2010). Place connections are made through activities, rituals, and practices such as gardening (Brook, 2003), and through social, cultural, and spiritual activities (Kaiser, 2008). Displaced persons feel connected to multiple places – physically and externally in one place, but internally and irremovably connected to another place (Brun, 2001). The process and practice of creating home and place attachment in new and unknown spaces is an experience shared by displaced persons worldwide. It spans the multitude of types of migration and reasons for displacement and is practiced in large and small ways regardless of age, gender, race, nationality, or other intersectionalities. It is expected that this practice during displacement is also done by refugees with disabilities and deaf refugees, the latter perhaps in the form of DeafSpace.

DeafSpace has been noted since 18th century France, and continues to be a concept that frames the deaf experience separately from disability and through a lens of capability (Gulliver, 2009). DeafSpace includes architectural principals which provide the upmost visual accessibility and is created out of the deaf way of moving and being in space including sign language use. DeafSpace differs from Universal Design¹² in that is

_

¹² Universal Design is an approach to design which aims to make an environment accessible to all persons regardless of disability, age, or other factors (Centre for Excellence in Universal Design, 2020).

it not a way of reducing disability or impairment, it is a wholistic understanding ways of being beyond a needs-centric view (Edwards & Harold, 2014). DeafSpace is not limited to design or architecture, it is typically created in simple acts such as the arrangement of furniture and items in a way that allows for the most visual accessibility. DeafSpace is not limited to any regional, national, socioeconomic, cultural, gendered, or other factors or demographics. It is seen in rural communities in Ghana (Kusters, 2015), in urban environments in Cape Town (Heap, 2006), and in refugee camps in Kenya (le Marie, 2018a; Youngs, 2010). The daily and ritualized making and unmaking of DeafSpace in these environments is scaled during the formalized creation of DeafSpace in conference or event settings such as Deaflympics, Deaf Way festivals, or the World Congress of the World Federation of the Deaf (Solvang & Haualand, 2014). Transnationalism, tourism, linguistics, education, politics, activism, research and development, and intersectionality are all issues and contexts created within DeafSpaces (Kusters & Friedner, 2015). Removing the phonocentrism of the hearing world reveals other diversities as well as the similarities across deaf people and communities. Despite the current evidence of deaf refugees creating DeafSpace in refugee camps in Kenya (le Marie, 2018a; Youngs, 2010), the creation of DeafSpace by deaf people worldwide, and the making of place and home for displaced people worldwide, (A) the intersection of these three and (B) the explicit connection to deaf refugee agency has not been explored in the literature.

7. Deaf Refugees of a Shared Language Family

Many studies of deaf refugees, and the literature of Deaf Studies, relates to communication and the use of sign language. As opposed to the common misconception, sign language is not universal. Sign languages develop distinctly through the same indigenous and sociopolitical mechanisms that spoken languages do. It is estimated that there are between 138 and 300 different sign languages globally which evolve and develop naturally (Simmons & Deaf Education Without Borders, 2019). Deaf Communities tend to gather and grow, leading to sign language development, around schools or clubs for the deaf and/or where there are high rates of genetic deafness

(Groce, 1985). This history is important to consider in the study of deaf refugees as it influences how they communicate with each other and with Deaf Community members who are not refugees. For example, the studies of deaf refugees during resettlement outlined in section three describe the challenges and strategies between deaf refugees of diverse global backgrounds and the sign languages of their resettlement countries such as Finnish Sign Language (Sivunen, 2019), Norwegian Sign Language (Olsen, 2018), American Sign Language¹³ (Akamatsu & Cole, 2000; Moers, 2017; Fischbeck, 2018; Reimers, 2011; Mendoza, 2016; Saghir, 2017), Auslan¹⁴ (Willoughby, 2008), and British Sign Language (Emery & Iyer, no date; Iyer, 2019). These sign languages of country of origin and resettlement country are typically distant on the etymological family tree of sign languages (Simmons & Deaf Education Without Borders, 2019). This linguistic dynamic has been the context of the majority of studies about deaf refugees.

The use of sign language between deaf refugees and each other or with a local Deaf Community within one region are included in Youngs' (2010) study of Deaf Education in Dadaab refugee camp, primarily the use of Somali Sign Language and Kenyan Sign Language. In the study of Deaf refugees in Kakuma refugee camp, le Marie (2018) explores how deaf refugees use Kenyan Sign Language and American Sign Language as the languages of instruction for deaf refugee students but that deaf refugees coming from Burundi, Congo, Ethiopia, Somalia, and Sudan come from different sign language backgrounds and/or use home signs. Le Marie also notes the existence of a Kakuma Sign Language developed naturally at the camp through the use of multiple sign languages among the diverse deaf refugees. These sign languages vary in their positioning on the sign language family tree, some deriving from Kenyan Sign Language but with no connection to American Sign Language (i.e. Somali Sign Language), others with no connection to Kenyan Sign Language (i.e. Ethiopian Sign Language) (Simmons & Deaf Education Without Borders, 2019).

_

¹³ American Sign Language is used both in the United States and Canada.

¹⁴ Auslan is the sign language used in Australia.

Increased scholarship is needed to explore the linguistic context of deaf refugees in Jordan and Lebanon. In this region, deaf refugees from Syria, Iraq and Palestine, deaf people native to Jordan and Lebanon, as well as their neighbors in the deaf communities of Kuwait, Yemen, Egypt, Oman, and Qatar all use sign languages which have developed directly from Arabian Sign Language (Simmons & Deaf Education Without Borders, 2019). According to Sivunen's (2019) experience with deaf refugees in Finland, deaf refugees from this region consistently refer to each of their languages as 'ArabSign'. The contact of these languages and these deaf communities will provide a different context and dynamic to the study of how deaf refugees interact and navigate through their displacement experience - potentially forging stronger bonds between deaf refugees from different countries of origin due to the ease of communicating across distinct but related sign languages.

An extensive lexicostatistical study of sign languages in the Arab world was conducted in 2010 which covered many populations and dialects (Al-Fityani & Padden, 2010). Unlike the common misconception that the shared use of Arabic in this region should lead to a common sign language, different sign language communities exist - many with a similar diglossia to Arabic. This study found that any two distinct sign languages in the Arab world are more similar than any two distinct spoken languages - perhaps due to the iconic, gestural, and visual modality and cultural connection of deaf persons as well as the connection of the sign languages of the region (Simmons & Deaf Education Without Borders, 2019) or 'ArabSign' (Sivunen, 2019). Deaf refugees are not included in this study, nor are the sign languages used by deaf persons from Syria and Iraq. Linguistic phenomena such as creolization, codeswitching, and contact language development may also occur between users of different 'ArabSign' languages. The sudden concentration deaf persons in a displacement setting is evidenced to develop their sign language(s), as was seen with displaced deaf Haitians after the 2010 earthquake (Hochgesang & McAuliff, 2016). Prior to the earthquake, deaf Haitians were separated geographically and therefore used various dialects of Haitian Sign Language, after the earthquake brought them to a Red Cross displacement camp in Port-au-Prince, Haitian Sign Language developed and standardized rapidly.

Therefore, research with deaf refugees in Jordan and Lebanon can (A) explore the experiences of deaf refugees in a very different linguistic context, and (B) investigate how the impact of a shared language family promotes agency through deaf community building across nationalities and other differences, and (C) expand upon the scholarship on sign languages in the Arab world and the development of contact sign languages in general.

8. Deaf Refugees' Intersectionality and Transnationalism

Multiple studies of deaf refugees highlight the value of deaf refugees connecting with the local Deaf Community during displacement and resettlement. Some studies explore intersectionalities in diverse deaf refugee populations including gender and religion. Few studies of deaf refugees explore the connections between deaf refugees from different countries of origin. The concept of deaf people connecting across intersectional differences is prominent in the Deaf Studies literature (Solvang & Haualand, 2014). The concept of 'DEAF-SAME' is a cornerstone of the Deaf Community worldwide, describing the deep connection with a stranger with whom you may have nothing in common except your shared experience of deafness (Friedner & Kusters, 2015, p. x). The localized deaf communities of the world are understood to be part of the larger transnational deaf community – connected not by one universal sign language (a common misconception) but by a shared *deaf epistemology* or "Deaf ways of being" (Ladd, 2003), a visual orientation to the world, and a shared identity (Breivik, 2007).

In the literature about deaf refugees, the focus of these connections is between deaf refugees and deaf people from the host or resettlement country. Except a few, studies seem to have largely overlooked the transnational connections of deaf refugees from different countries of origin with each other. Further research can (A) expand on the

current literature which does not deeply explore transnational and intersectional connections of deaf refugees and (B) demonstrate the impact of these transnational and intersectional ties on deaf refugee agency. For example, deaf refugees may leverage their transnational Deaf Community network to navigate toward seeking asylum elsewhere, or connection to the Deaf Community may guide them to a specific destination.

During resettlement, the connection to the local Deaf Community is consistently reported as a vital tool and source of information, resilience, and support for deaf refugees. The mutual understanding between deaf people is not only a conduit for language learning and interpretation, but a bridge between the deaf refugee and the hearing public. Emery and lyer (no date), in their study of deaf labor migrants in the UK, describe how deaf refugees seek out deaf-centered organizations and events and use both hearing and deaf British Sign Language interpreters¹⁵. In Norway, Olsen (2019) discusses the role of the Norwegian Deaf community, including Sign Language Interpreters, as conduits for connection to the public, particularly with deaf refugees who are acquiring Norwegian Sign Language, some of whom do not have a foundation in any formalized sign language. These authors, among others, describe how local Deaf Community members become advocates for deaf refugees through clubs and organizations. Activities from these organizations and individuals go beyond sign language instruction into cultural and practical knowledge of the country and management of (mis)communication between deaf refugees and hearing service providers. Local deaf organizations such as Equalizent, in Austria (BBC News, 2018) and Deaf Refugee Advocacy in the United

¹⁵ Hearing Sign Language Interpreters interpret between the local spoken language and the local sign language. In contexts where the client (e.g. deaf refugee) does not know the local sign language (e.g. British Sign Language (BSL)) and/or has limited formal language and/or has other disabilities which may alter the clients signing or receptive abilities (e.g. Cerebral Palsy; Autism) a Deaf Sign Language Interpreter (DI or CDI) may also be used. This interpreter and the hearing interpreter will work together, with the hearing interpreter interpreting for the deaf interpreter into BSL and the deaf interpreter interpreter interpreting for the deaf interpreter will work together, of additional strategies needed to establish communication with the client. This process would be 'reversed' as the client then expressed themselves, the deaf interpreter interprets into BSL to the hearing interpreter and the hearing interpreter interprets the message into English.

States (Deaf Refugee Advocacy, 2017) provide a range of services from assistance with the asylum seeking process to instruction in the local sign and written languages.

Deaf refugees also connect to the local Deaf Community while displaced outside of third country resettlement. This is through Deaf Education at schools such as FAID, a school for the deaf in Lebanon which is inclusive of deaf refugee children (Father Andeweg Institute for the Deaf, no date). Or, in Jordan, at the Holy Land Institute for the Deaf in Salt (2004), which both includes deaf refugee children and performs outreach to deaf refugee adults in refugee camps. In Kenya, deaf refugees connect to the Kenyan Deaf Community through their teachers at schools for the deaf within the camps and some service providers, but their connection to other deaf people is typically other refugees in the refugee camp environments of Kakuma (le Marie, no date) and Dadaab (Youngs, 2010).

Deaf-led organizations like Deaf Planet Soul, an American deaf-led organization which conducts hearing aid distribution and sign language instruction for deaf refugee children in refugee camps are a connection of the transnational Deaf Community (2015). More common are the efforts of deaf scholars in conducting research with deaf refugees and other deaf migrants. The researchers working within MobileDeaf, a research unit comprised of only deaf researchers at Heriot-Watt University in Scotland, each specialize in different aspects of deaf mobilities and transnational Deaf Communities (MobileDeaf, no date). Other deaf researchers in the scholarship of deaf refugees include: Youngs' research at Dadaab refugee camp in Kenya (2010) and Sivunen's research with Deaf asylum seekers in Finland (2019).

These connections to Deaf Communities through networks, organizations, researchers, and initiatives may be leveraged by deaf refugees as they seek asylum elsewhere, their deaf connections may guide them to a specific destination. For example, Olsen notes that Sweden is a hub for deaf refugees, leading Olsen to assume that a similar phenomenon is happening in Norway. As discussed section three, this situation is

paralleled in other major deaf hubs, such as the Rochester area of New York State in the US, which has become a common place for deaf refugees to resettle due to its large preexisting Deaf Community (Mendoza, 2016; Saghir, 2017). This concentration in Rochester has led to the establishment of organizations such as Deaf Refugee Advocacy, which provides support services for deaf refugees during resettlement, presenting another potential pull factor (Deaf Refugee Advocacy, 2017).

Deaf refugees connect with each other across intersectionalities of language, education, religion, and country of origin in both displacement and resettlement contexts. Despite the lack of deep exploration of this topic, it is noted by many researchers. In the education environment of the United States, Moers notes the diversity of the deaf refugee students and the challenges this poses regarding their language use and development (2017). In the UK, Barpaga (2011) and Emery & lyer (no date) note the diversity and connections between deaf refugees and how they support each other in their shared aims of navigating the asylum seeking process, adapting to a new culture, and learning both British Sign Language and English. Iyer's aspects of the study of deaf labor migrants takes the lens of intersectionality, particularly how female deaf labor migrants' experiences vary in relation to these and other identities such as ethnicity, education, and class which may or may not connect them to other deaf refugees (Emery & Iyer, no date). Similar phenomena of deaf refugees forging intersectional and transnational connections is seen in the reception center that was the context of Sivunen's study of deaf asylum seekers in Finland (2019).

There is more evidence of deaf refugees connecting while they are in refugee camps with deaf refugees from other countries of origin from le Marie (no date) and Youngs (2010). Le Marie (no date) explores how deaf refugees connect despite differences and the impact of factors such as gender, ethnicity, and religion on how deaf refugees connect over some intersectionalities more than others. The majority of refugees (including deaf refugees) in Dadaab refugee camp are from Somalia, therefore connections between deaf refugees of different countries of origin may not be as

common, but, the different backgrounds of deaf refugees from urban areas with those from pastoral backgrounds may lead to connections between different language abilities or education (UNHCR, 2020a). The current literature demonstrates some connections between deaf refugees, but much remains to be understood about (A) how deaf refugees connect transnationally and intersectionally and (B) how this exemplifies and enables deaf refugee agency.

9. Deaf Refugee Adults

There is a common pattern in deaf and disability research to focus on children and students, this is consistent in the research about deaf refugees. Therefore, we know far less about the lives of autonomous, adult deaf refugees than we do of deaf refugees who are children. This could be due to the structure and resources provided by education, social work, or services for adolescents and their families. A more critical view poses that the focus on deaf children relates to the paternalism and infantilization that many deaf people and people with disabilities experience – oppressing or negating their agency. Furthermore, many organizations, institutions, and NGOs focus on service provision for deaf refugee children, leaving adult deaf refugees invisible and marginalized. Research is needed to (A) fill this contextual gap and (B) focus on deaf refugee agency in how deaf refugees make decisions within systems and institutions.

The scholarship about deaf refugee children is primarily conducted in the United States and Canada, providing further evidence of the imbalance of research about resettlement in the global North as discussed in the first section. Akamatsu and Cole (2000; 2003; 2004) have thrice published on the subject of deaf immigrant and refugee children, particularly focused on the context of the school system. During migration and resettlement, stress and trauma are exacerbated for deaf refugees who have a lack of information and knowledge about the safety and events of their surroundings (Akamatsu & Cole, 2000). Some deaf refugees do not know that they are leaving their home indefinitely or where they are going due to the lack of communication they have with

their family and community (Moers, 2017). Family separation for deaf refugees is sometimes paired with lack of information about potential reunification or the reasons for separation. Many experience trauma and isolation, worsened by the inability to express these experiences due to the lack of language access (Reimers, 2011). These aspects and traumatic experiences are faced by deaf refugee children and adults alike.

Refugee families with deaf children are also typically new to information about the rights, capabilities, and opportunities for education and livelihood that their deaf children have (Akamatsu and Cole, 2000). Refugee families often fear discrimination against their deaf family member as they may be perceived as drain on social services. This and other factors can make the deafness in the family a subject of shame. In one study, school psychologists and other school personnel are encouraged to consider how deafness and disability are perceived within the culture of the student and their family when assisting and supporting them in the acculturation and adaptation process (Akamatsu & Cole, 2003; 2004). Akamatsu and Cole recommend strategies related to inclusive educational environments, access in sign language, use of natural home signs as a bridge to language learning, and emphasize the vital role of schools, particularly school psychology, and families to the health and well-being of deaf refugee children. While the experience of deaf immigrants and deaf refugees differ, their adaptation and acculturation processes as well as their early life experiences are likely similar (Akamatsu & Cole, 2003; 2004).

The cognitive and linguistic impacts of children being cut off from language learning opportunities, particularly if their family is hearing (as is typically the case), leads to many deaf refugee students beginning school in a new country without any formal language and perhaps never having attended school (Akamatsu & Cole, 2000; 2003; 2004). Moers (2017), an educator of the deaf in the United States, echoes that her deaf students from immigrant or refugee backgrounds vary greatly as some students have fluency in the signed and written languages of their country of origin while others have no formal language at all. The use of sign language interpreters is argued by some as being

inaccessible to deaf refugee students (Moers, 2017), while others focus on the role and strategies of educational interpreters working with deaf immigrant and refugee students in mainstream¹⁶ educational environments (Fischbeck, 2018). The team approach of teachers, interpreters, and other personnel to provide wholistic educational support for the deaf refugee student is consistent in the literature, as well as strategies to foster social skills and modify language use to include more iconicity and gesture (Fischbeck, 2018). One study uniquely highlights the agency and actions of a deaf refugee student by shifting the focus from their needs and services in the school to their agency (Reimers, 2011). This case study of a deaf refugee student from Somalia explores how their personal culture comes through their sign language expression.

Youngs (2010) is the only instance of research focused on deaf refugee children during displacement outside of the global North. The study in Dadaab refugee camp focuses on the experiences of deaf students as well as those involved in Deaf Education in the refugee camp (Youngs, 2010). The perspective Youngs presents about what deaf refugee students experience before they arrive in resettlement nations could be applied to educational and psychosocial decision-making regarding the care of deaf refugee children. Given the volume, proportionally, of research about deaf refugee children, increased research is needed which is focused on adults. This research can provide more context for educators and service providers who work with deaf refugee students in understanding the social, cultural, and linguistic context which multiple scholars emphasize as crucial for acculturation and adaptation. Research is needed to (A) expand the current context to explore the experiences of deaf refugees who are adults and (B) break away from the structures researched in conjunction with children (i.e. school) and focus on deaf refugee agency in adulthood.

-

¹⁶ 'Mainstream' refers to a deaf student being educated in a school which is not specialized in Deaf Education. These schools have primarily or all hearing teachers and students. Deaf students may have access to sign language interpreters or teaching assistants who know sign language.

10. Deaf Refugees Beyond the Media

Deaf refugees, especially those who are children from the Middle East, have been the subjects of multiple recent media stories, often in the form of short videos on social media. These videos are evidence of the existence of, and interest in, deaf refugees. The production and distribution of this content by UNHCR, news agencies, and other organizations proves that deaf refugees are recognized and seen by institutions. Hopefully this visibility is a sign of efforts to make services inclusive. However, many of these human interest stories take the lens of the Medical Model of Disability, victimizing and describing the plight of the deaf refugee and leaving out their agency or the inaccessibility of their environment. Fortunately, there are a few videos highlighting the agency of deaf refugees as well as how the transnational Deaf Community has come together to work with deaf refugees. Increased scholarship is needed to expand the understanding of deaf refugees beyond the superficial and at times biased story of victimhood by shifting the focus to agency. Further research can (A) show the true context of the lives of deaf refugees by penetrating beyond the glimpse shown in the media and (B) center deaf refugees' narratives and agency as the source of truth beyond media perception.

Two videos published in 2018, one published by UNHCR and the other by Al Jazeera English, take place at the FAID school for the Deaf in Lebanon. Both of these videos demonstrate how an inclusive environment of education in sign language can uphold the agency of deaf students and be a vital tool in their life trajectories. The UNHCR video shows UN Refugee Chief, Filippo Grandi, visiting deaf students, including deaf refugee students, at FAID (UNHCR, 2018b). As is quoted as the title of the video, Grandi says of one deaf Syrian refugee student: "With proper attention he can again have a future and opportunities" (UNHCR, 2018b). The FAID visit video takes the approach of the Social Model of Disability (Shakespeare, 2006; Oliver and Sapey, 1999; Oliver, 2013), focusing on the environment and how with "the proper attention" meaning sign language, Deaf Education, and other accessibility and inclusion measures, deaf refugee students can

succeed. This video has not quite reached the level of the Active Model of Disability (Levitt, 2017) or Human Rights Model of Disability (Degener, 2014) which would focus more on the abilities and rights of the student than the activities of the school – but some comments by the teacher in the video and the overall nature of the story show positive and agency-affirming messaging.

The video published by Al Jazeera English (2018) was also filmed at FAID and focuses on the same deaf Syrian refugee student who Grandi addresses. This video highlights not only the inclusive educational environment at FAID, but also the student's agency by showing his love of learning and motivation with his schoolwork. His deafness is incidental, despite the caption¹⁷ of the video perhaps alluding to him losing his hearing and his hand as a result of the violence in Syria, and the focus is more about how the impact of the war and violence has impacted his young life in general. The video also shows the resource scarcity at FAID, as the school expresses they do not have the resources to enroll more refugee students.

On the contrary, there are two videos, also focused on deaf refugee children, which take the approach of the phonocentric and Medical Model of Disability. One was also published by UNHCR in 2019, the other was published by Channel 4 News in 2016. The video distributed by UNHCR about deaf refugees in 2019 (UNHCR, 2019b) entitled 'The Syrian brothers were born deaf... a viral video changes their lives' was firmly positioned in the Medical Model of Disability, celebrating their cochlear implantation¹⁸ surgery. These children, using sign language and communicating well in the video, were in a video

_

¹⁷ "Meet the 7-year-old Syrian refugee who lost his hand, his hearing - but not his love for learning." (Al Jazeera English, 2018)

¹⁸ A cochlear implant is a device which is surgically inserted in the head of a Deaf person. Using a magnet, it transmits sounds into electronic signals that are received by the Deaf person to mimic sound. The surgery involves the removal of all of the Deaf persons' inner ear anatomy to make space for the device. The success rate of cochlear implantation varies widely and is highly dependent on additional audiological and speech pathology services. Unlike the use of a hearing aid, it cannot be reversed. Cochlear implantation, perceived as a way to fix or cure Deafness, is highly contested in the Deaf community, especially as it is often performed on babies and young children who are born to hearing parents and may not be exposed to sign language or Deaf culture.

that went viral, tweeted by an Arab journalist, and seen by the Kuwaiti Red Crescent who financed and performed the surgery. This video emphasizes how a benefactor changed or saved the lives of the deaf Syrian refugee boys, noticeably not addressing any social or environmental aspects that could have changed their lives such as inclusive education or connection to the Deaf Community (UNHCR, 2019b). After the brothers have had the surgery, text appears that "The world is now theirs to discover" (UNHCR, 2019b) an unfortunately limiting view that deaf people without this surgery do not discover the world.

Similarly, the video from Channel 4 News entitled 'The boy who wouldn't talk', focuses on the efforts of the family of a deaf refugee child to "give him the chance to speak" (2016). This video focused on the inability of this deaf refugee child to speak, despite his attendance to a deaf school in the UK where children fluently communicate in sign language. This video does uniquely point out the dangers of refoulement and asylum seeking based on disability as they remind or inform the audience that "In 2015 the terror group [ISIS] reportedly ordered disabled children should be killed" (Channel 4 News, 2016). Incidentally, they show the fallacies of the medical model through explaining that the deaf refugee child had cochlear implantation surgery at 18 months old, but it has not been successful because of the lack of therapy at the camp. The video emphasizes the urgency needed to get the deaf refugee child 'communicating' insinuating that this means speaking – while sign language is accessible to him naturally. Fortunately, the family was able to admit their child to the Royal School for the Deaf - a connection to the Deaf Community and sign language beyond home sign. You can see that the school tested his hearing but states that "a language that suits his needs" and getting a language base for him that will enable his success is the priority, perhaps introducing the Social Model of Disability and inclusive sign language education after all (Channel 4 News, 2016).

Furthermore, three videos, two of which are produced by Deaf Community organizations and the third which features a deaf organization, are examples of how deaf refugees

exercise their agency when supported by the Deaf Community. BBC News (2018) distributed a video about a deaf organization in Vienna, called Equalizent, which provides sign language, written German, and Austrian life classes for deaf refugees from Iran, Iraq, and Afghanistan. This is an example of the transnational Deaf Community, also focused on deaf adults. The video features a deaf refugee from Iraq sharing his narrative in sign language about his experience of violence and displacement. A member of the organization, a deaf person, briefly describes how prior to this course deaf refugees were isolated, and their rights were not upheld. However, the primary focus of the video is the narrative of the deaf refugee including his life goals, self-determination, and agency.

Seek The World (2019), a deaf media company, produced a video about deaf refugees as part of a series about deaf businesses. Typically, these videos focus on the business owner, however this refreshing take is from the employee perspective as it features a deaf Syrian refugee who works at an American deaf owned furniture company. This video provides two examples of the transnational Deaf Community: deaf people creating a business with the purpose of employing deaf refugees as well as deaf refugees of different backgrounds coming together as co-workers. Deaf refugee agency is clearly upheld in this video and the business' practices as DeafSpace is created and the deaf refugee employees have total access. The English, American Sign Language, and vocational training available for the deaf refugee employees is included in the video, but unlike other storytelling approaches, the generosity of the teacher and employer is not the focus. Within the narration by a deaf Syrian refugee employee, his agency and self-determination are evident in his description of when he and his family leveraged their network of friends in Turkey to leave Syria.

Another deaf-produced video, this one by Barpaga and a BSL Zone, features the true story of a deaf Afghani asylum seeker in the UK (2011). The positioning of the video from the deaf asylum seeker's point of view features his agency, his connection to the transnational Deaf Community, the trauma he faced during displacement, and the barriers he faces in the asylum seeking process. The deaf asylum seeker describes how

in Afghanistan he was cut off from information about the disappearance of his family and the dangers in his area, a common experience for many deaf refugees (2011). After arrival in the UK, the video shows an ideal situation: the deaf asylum seeker having access to a case worker and an interpreter who he is able to communicate with well. From literature such as Sivunen (2019) and Olsen (2018) as well as Every & Iyer (no date) we know these resources and ease of communication are rarely the case. Despite this ideal situation, his asylum application is still denied.

Although these media examples fall outside of the academic literature, they are included because the knowledge about deaf refugees is limited to the point that much of perspective on deaf refugees comes through media and social sources. The narratives distributed by humanitarian institutions such as UNHCR and Deaf Community organizations such as BSL Zone and Seek the World also provide insight into the types of inclusion initiatives for deaf refugees which might be created or supported by these parties. Further research is needed to (A) increase the knowledge about this population by broadening the context beyond the brevity of the media and (B) reduce media bias and highlight deaf refugee agency by centering the deaf refugees' own narrative of their experience.

11. Deaf Refugees as Research Partners & Participants

The methodological approaches of the current research conducted with deaf refugees is consistently qualitative, typically including individual or focus group interviews. In multiple studies about deaf refugees, deaf refugees themselves were not participants; instead interpreters or educators were interviewed about their experiences with their deaf refugee clients or students. Other studies were more inclusive, interviewing deaf refugees directly and leveraging and upholding their expertise on their own experience. Increased scholarship is needed to (A) gain deeper insight and broader context by partnering with deaf refugees in conducting research and (B) co-create with deaf

refugees by centering their narrative and experience through the use of participatory methodologies.

Interviewing Deaf refugees presents linguistic and cultural challenges which were identified by multiple researchers. Their approaches to mitigating and navigating these challenges should be applied to future research with deaf refugees in any context. Particularly, the differences in dynamics and approached between deaf and hearing researchers and their deaf refugee participants should be considered relating both to positionality and to language and communication.

On one end of the spectrum, the two studies of interpreters working with deaf refugees, one in the community setting (Olsen, 2019) and the other in the educational setting (Fischbeck, 2017) both comprised interviews with interpreters and did not include interviews with deaf refugees themselves. In a more balanced approach, Reimers' (2011) case study approach with a deaf refugee student from Somalia balanced the narrative of the student with interviews with the educational team. Youngs' (2010) research was also balanced with interviews with deaf refugee students, teachers, and parents. Notably, on the other end of the spectrum are the deaf researchers, including those from the research unit MobileDeaf. Le Marie (no date) and Emery and lyer (no date) all conduct interviews and focus groups with deaf refugees themselves. Sivunen (2019), also deaf, conducted in depth interviews with 10 deaf refugees during her study.

The communication barriers which occur between deaf refugees and their teachers, doctors, service providers, and others also exist between researchers and deaf refugees. Deaf researchers, with their shared experience of deafness and visual orientation to the world, are typically best at bridging these gaps and understanding the mix of home sign, gesture, and the sign languages of the deaf refugees' countries of origin, displacement, and/or resettlement. While not all scholars expanded upon their methodological approaches and challenges, Sivunen (2019) described the approach used to communicate with deaf asylum seekers in her study. These deaf refugees identified as

being 'ArabSign' users and had varied levels of using Finnish Sign Language (FinSL) the native sign language of Sivunen. Sivunen notes strategies such as avoiding writing and fingerspelling¹⁹ during interviews and waiting to use FinSL for interviewing until after participants acquired some of the language and the researcher and participant had developed a foundation of communication and mutual understanding. Sivunen also describes the use of repetition, mixing sign languages, using gesture, and employing visual aids to get informed consent. In Sivunen's presentation of the data, the unique description of how a deaf asylum seeker interviewee used their gesture and home sign to strategically tell the researcher their story is an approach to be followed by other researchers interacting with deaf refugees. This approach includes the description not only Sivunen's interview skills and strategy, but the way the deaf asylum seeker's signing was described in detail including facial expression, hand position, shape, and movement. This allowed the reader to imagine the visual communication, and then read the subsequent translated into the English meaning. Sivunen's study presents a methodological approach which upholds the agency of the deaf refugee to express their narrative, and also exemplifies the communication strategies the deaf refugee may use with other deaf refugees of different sign languages, Deaf Community members who are not refugees, hearing and deaf interpreters, and members of the hearing public. Further research should (A) draw upon the methodological tools used by researchers to partner with deaf refugees in conducting research, (B) center the narrative and agency of deaf refugees through the use of participatory and inclusive methodologies, and (C) share methodological insights explicitly to uphold deaf refugee agency in future research processes.

¹⁹ Fingerspelling is an aspect of sign languages where letters of the spoken language of the region where the sign language has developed are represented manually and signed in sequence in order to spell

the sign language has developed are represented manually and signed in sequence in order to spell proper nouns or indicate specific words in a spoken language for clarification or emphasis (i.e. describing signage or instructing how to fill out a form).

12. Deaf Refugees within the Disabled Refugee Literature

Refugees with disabilities rank "among the world's most vulnerable persons" (Crock et al., 2013, p.736), despite this, the scholarship about refugees with disabilities is limited - although markedly larger than the research about deaf refugees. It may be assumed that deaf refugees are captured under the umbrella of refugees with disabilities, and this may be true in some cases relating to general inclusion and resource provision for disability during displacement. However, deaf refugees are largely missing from the research about refugees with disabilities. In most studies, scholars do not mention deafness, hearing disabilities, sign language, or other specific identifications of deaf refugees. In a few instances, deafness is identified as a disability type (Mirza, 2012). Deaf people generally, and deaf refugees in particular are an invisible population – often unseen or overlooked in academia as well as service provision and other inclusion efforts, particularly those aimed at more visible forms of disability (e.g. mobility). This section explores what the scholarship about refugees with disabilities contributes to the study of deaf refugees, including common themes within the experience of refugees with disabilities that need further review for deaf refugees. This section also provides a review of deaf refugee representation in the disabled refugee literature as well as representation in the literature produced by humanitarian organizations.

Prior to delving into these aspects, it is important to set out why deaf refugees should be included in the research about refugees with disabilities. In the field of Deaf Studies and in many Deaf Communities, particularly those in the global North or West, deaf people do not consider themselves disabled. They identify as members of a sociolinguistic minority. While the cultural and linguistic minority approach to deafness is well suited to many, there are gaps where the categorization within disability is important. For example, when applying the Social Model of Disability (Shakespeare, 2006; Oliver and Sapey, 1999; Oliver, 2013): deaf people, as a sociolinguistic and cultural minority, can be 'disabled' by a phonocentric environment therefore making the disability label appropriate and useful. Environments such as those of displacement, conflict, or

in developing countries are typically disabling in this way due to lack of access, education, and acceptance of sign language and other features of deaf life. Despite their human rights to sign language and education being protected by the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD)²⁰, deaf people are often disabled by the contexts they live in (UNDESA, 2006). Therefore, deaf refugees fit within the disabled refugee community without having to shed or diminish their identities as members of the Deaf Community. Furthermore, deaf refugees are not served well by rejecting the disability community or label. Their inclusion in the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD) is one example of this. It is also apparent that deaf refugees are not treated like a linguistic minority, as is exemplified by the scarce mention of sign language and no mention of deaf people in the extensive UNHCR published *Handbook for Interpreters in Asylum Procedures* (2017a).

This establishes the logic that deaf refugees should be included in research about refugees with disabilities. However, the simple lack of mention of deafness in the literature, is exacerbated by other evidence that shows deaf refugees remain marginalized and overlooked. Typically, in the literature deaf people are identified as Deaf, deaf, D/deaf, d/Deaf, hard of hearing, hearing impaired²¹, deaf-mute²² or other labels such as Marshall and Barrett, H. (2018) and Marshall et al. (2017) who identify deaf refugees either as or among 'refugees with communication disabilities'.. As certain labels are no longer accepted by the Deaf Community, it is a sign of the disconnect between Refugee Studies, Disability Studies and Deaf Studies when literature such as Lambert's study on the European Convention on Human Rights and Protection of Refugees cited an example of an Algerian 'deaf-mute' refugee, a label which is considered outdated (at best) and offensive (at worst) to the Deaf Community (2005).

_

²⁰ The following articles of the CRPD, if implemented, would mitigate or resolve the disabling situations experienced by Deaf people, including Deaf refugees, worldwide: Article 2; 5; 9; 12; 20; 21.b; 21.e; 23; 23.3; 24; 24.1; 24.3b; 24.4; 24.5; 27; 29; 30.4 (WFD, 2016a; UNDESA, 2006).

²¹ 'Hearing Impaired' is not typically an accepted term in the Deaf community as it proliferates the phonocentric, medical, and deficiency perspective of deafness.

²² 'Deaf-Mute' is no longer an accepted term in the Deaf community.

Despite this disconnect, and the unclear or inconsistent inclusion of deaf refugees in the literature about refugees with disabilities, it is important to consider the perspective that this scholarship has to offer deaf refugee research. Themes and theories developed through research with refugees with disabilities which likely relate to deaf refugees are identified here. They include perceptions of personhood, the application of models of disability, marginalization, vulnerability, grassroots efforts, accessibility, social capital, and resource scarcity. Each of these themes identified with disabled refugees requires increased scholarship to be inclusive of deaf refugees. Foundationally, Mirza's (2010; 2014) observations demonstrate how both disability and displacement diverge from societal understandings of personhood. Disability challenges understandings of embodiment and displacement challenges understandings of citizenship (Mirza, 2014). Crock et al. make a similar connection that refugees are denationalized by their context (e.g. borders) in the same way that people with disabilities are disabled by their context (e.g. access) (2017). The application of these authors' keen connections between disability and displacement suggest that deaf refugees challenge understandings of communication and citizenship simultaneously - connecting to the concept of 'double displacement' discussed in the first section.

The impact of the models of disability applied within the experiences of refugees with disabilities have a clear tie to the experiences of deaf refugees. Therefore, the observations regarding the various models in the disabled refugee literature is a useful starting point. The implications of the use of the Medical Model of Disability in resettlement processes (Mirza, 2010) and access to employment (Mirza, 2012) for refugees with disabilities is a common theme. Authors describe how refugees with disabilities may diminish themselves and their agency in order to fit the narrative of vulnerability in order to be prioritized (Elder, 2015). In an example of deaf refugees in the disabled refugee research, Elder (2015) identified this when a deaf refugee participant from Bhutan did not identify as being disabled but took on the disability label in order to receive her rightful accommodations from UNHCR during her resettlement processes.

Fortunately, further inclusion of deaf refugees is seen through studies which take a strong Social and Active Model approach to disability, perhaps inferring that these studies are more engaged with the diversities within the demographic of refugees with disabilities (Pearce, 2012; 2017). While the models of disability certainly parallel in their impact on different disabilities and the work with disabled refugees is a strong starting point, for deaf refugees the lens of phonocentrism and the specificity of assistive technologies and therapies related to communication and language requires increased research.

Marginalization and vulnerability are themes present throughout the research on deaf refugees as well as on disabled refugees. However, the broad insights from the disabled refugee literature remain important to consider for future research with deaf refugees. Elder (2015), Crock with Ernst and Ao (2012) and with Smith-Khan, McCallum and Saul (2017), along with many others who reference and echo their work, consistently identify themes of vulnerability, human rights abuses, and the invisibility and marginalization of refugees with disabilities. Importantly, Elder (2015) includes a discussion and application of intersectionality and how the multiple intersectional oppressions impact the autonomy and self-determination of refugees with disabilities as well as deaf refugees. Further research is needed on the intersectionality of marginalization, vulnerability, and agency for deaf refugees. Crock et al. (2017) identify the overarching social isolation and political marginalization which are the permanent states of many refugees with disabilities. This warrants deeper application to deaf refugees given the communication barriers and invisibility they experience. For example, Pearce (2017) highlighted the narrative of deaf Bhutanese refugees' experience of vulnerability and invisibility. Importantly, studies indicate that the agency and self-determination of refugees with disabilities is a major contributor to their survival, particularly as they lack the privilege of people with disabilities who are not refugees to exert their political power (Crock et al., 2017). Further study with deaf refugees may reveal a further level of privilege (or underprivilege) between deaf refugees and refugees with disabilities regarding the recognition or space for their agency.

To mitigate the marginalization of refugees with disabilities, grassroots efforts are sometimes identified in the research. Given the institutional issues of stigma and accessibility identified by Mirza (2011), grassroots initiatives and community based efforts towards disability inclusion and rights within refugee camp settings become vitally important; including an example of grassroots efforts with deaf refugees. Pearce (2012) included the facilitation of access to sign language classes for deaf refugees through local partners. Given these two brief examples of deaf refugees, both within wider studies of refugees with disabilities, it is worth exploring how grassroots efforts or other community based initiatives include deaf refugees. Further study may provide insight into if deaf refugees are marginalized by or included within grassroots efforts for refugees with disabilities or if they are more apt to utilize grassroots initiatives designed for deaf people who are not refugees.

Of course, accessibility, is a major factor for any study of disability or deafness. Most scholars identify similar barriers and challenges for refugees with disabilities within the displacement and resettlement settings. Within the refugee camp, Mirza (2017) identifies healthcare as a particular challenge for refugees with disabilities related to the (mis)understandings of their health needs and accommodations. During resettlement, Crock et al. (2012) delve into the practical impact of disability to the legal resettlement processes and how the disability itself may interfere with the understanding or performing procedural steps, including the access to information for refugees with intellectual disabilities and the provision of sign language interpreters for deaf refugees. Further research about deaf refugees can build upon the knowledge of barriers to identify areas where deaf refugees are lacking access to their healthcare, education, legal, and other rights. Furthermore, accessibility and inclusion of research itself is a necessary consideration for deaf refugees. In her work, Pearce (2012; 2017) highlighted the participation of deaf refugees in consultations and noted how deaf refugees used and developed a sign language they could use to share their narratives and communicate. These examples, along with the deaf refugee focused literature provide leadership for future research initiatives that both identify accessibility for deaf refugees as well as operate an inclusive research process.

Authors including Crock et al. (2017) discuss severe resource scarcity and the lack of or loss of social capital by refugees with disabilities. The application of the knowledge about refugees with disabilities by these scholars is of interest to future research with deaf refugees especially as it is combined with the social capital of the transnational deaf community as explored in section eight. The concept of social capital also raises the question of the social capital shared, or not, between refugees with disabilities and deaf refugees.

Humanitarian organizations and institutions make strides in the inclusion of refugees with disabilities and advocate for their needs and narratives which are often ignored or marginalized by other institutions (HelpAge International & Handicap International, 2014; Australia Aid, 2018a; 2018b; Women's Refugee Commission, 2012; 2017; 2019; 2020a). However, deaf refugees are often not specifically identified and therefore it remains a mystery if they are included in these studies and efforts at all. Nevertheless, efforts toward the inclusion of refugees with disabilities provide a foundation and context for deaf refugee access and inclusion and are therefore included in this review.

Organizations such as HelpAge International (2014) have identified deaf refugees and include them in their study of refugees with disabilities. However, in many of these instances, deafness is identified as 'hearing impairment' and the focus of accommodation is on hearing aids, continuing the approach of the medical model of disability. Similarly, extensive disability assessments of Syrian refugees in Jordan and Lebanon done by Australia Aid and Humanity & Inclusion²³ in 2018 (Australia Aid, 2018a; 2018b) primarily note 'hearing impairments' and the use of or need for hearing aids. Fortunately, there are brief mentions of the use of sign language to make information

²³ Humanity & Inclusion is the new name of the organization Handicap International. This change was made in 2018.

WP-01-2021

accessible and the provision of a sign language interpreter in the school setting with a deaf child. These reports demonstrate a focus on disability, centering the 'problem' in the disabled refugee or deaf refugee. It is also apparent that the reports make the assumption that hearing aids are useful or desired by all deaf people, which is especially presumptuous in an environment where speech and language pathology and audiology services are less accessible or nonexistent.

Women's Refugee Commission has been a leader in inclusion and information about refugees with disabilities, particularly under the leadership of Pearce²⁴, cited earlier, who led the Disability Program until 2018. The work of Women's Refugee Commission typically discusses disability in general terms, perhaps due to the institutional level at which it functions. For this or other reasons, deaf refugees do not appear in their publications. In publications varying from a description of their Disability Program (WRC, 2020a) to research about the vulnerability of women and girl refugees with disabilities to gender-based violence (WRC, 2012), a guidance sheet for disability, age, and gender inclusion (Plan International & WRC, 2019), or their study of the connections of refugees and host community disability networks (WRC, 2017) there were no mentions of deafness, hearing disabilities, or sign language. In the collaborative effort between Women's Refugee Commission, UNHCR, Handicap International, and HelpAge International promoting disability and age inclusion in the Syrian crisis, 'mild hearing disabilities' was mentioned once - and only as a description of educational activities performed by a separate organization (WRC, et al., 2015). This lack of information about deaf refugees leaves the inclusion or invisibility or deaf refugees in these contexts suspected, but ultimately unknown.

²⁴ Pearce was formerly (2012-2018) the Disability Program officer at the Women's Refugee Commission. There is currently no Disability Program Officer at Women's Refugee Commission that is identifiable on their Staff webpage (Women's Refugee Commission, 2020c). Disability is no longer a program but is included under the focus area of 'Gender and Inclusion' at Women's Refugee Commission (Women's Refugee Commission, 2020b).

Increased scholarship is needed to (A) build upon the themes seen in the literature about refugees with disabilities, identifying where deaf refugees are included, where they are overlooked, and where their experiences fit with or diverge from the experiences of refugees with disabilities more generally. Furthermore, research is needed to (B) reposition deaf refugees within the literature about refugees with disabilities, and (C) explore how deaf refugees interact with refugees with disabilities, disability-centric or inclusive programs and humanitarian organizations.

13. Conclusion

The current literature about deaf refugees in any context is extremely scarce. The position of this population between the Refugee Studies, Disability Studies, and Deaf Studies disciplines has left it neglected, if not orphaned – none of the three fields seeming to take the reins on developing this new field of knowledge. The limited knowledge about deaf refugees at this stage has multiple contextual focal points: deaf refugees, particularly children, 'resettled' in the global North, and how services should be inclusive. Scholarship about refugees outside of the global North only includes those in Kenya and Rwanda. The knowledge about deaf refugees from outside of academia is superficial media coverage and/or focused on the work of organizations for deaf refugees as opposed to the experiences or choices of deaf refugees themselves. This critical literature review presents a clear need for increased research about deaf refugees in general and presents a series of recommendations about where this future research should focus.

Given the foundation of the current knowledge about deaf refugees outlined here, a clear need presents itself to understand the experiences deaf refugees in other contexts and with new dimensions which bring the fields of research together. Contextually, deaf refugees in the Middle East and other global contexts, prior to resettlement in the global North remain to be researched. Research which seeks to understand the experiences of deaf refugee adults is needed. Research outside of the contexts of institutions and

camps would also enrich the field of knowledge about deaf refugees. Furthermore, there is an opportunity for the Refugee Studies and Deaf Studies lenses to combine in the experience of deaf refugees by examining how place-making and DeafSpace parallel. Finally, the re-centering of deaf refugee agency and the narratives of deaf refugees through participatory and accessible research can transcend the current limited knowledge of this population.

These recommendations and aims provide the foundation for the PhD research project: Deaf Refugees in Jordan and Lebanon. This study aims to complement the current knowledge of deaf refugees in Kenya, parallel in displacement context but in a very different cultural, social, and linguistic context. By focusing on deaf refugees prior to third-country resettlement, this study can provide the background for the majority of the deaf refugee research and service provision for deaf refugees during resettlement in the global North. In understanding what deaf refugees in the Middle East have experienced during displacement and how they have exercised their agency to arrive at the asylum seeking process, professionals will be empowered to provide more inclusive services and use their position to make space for the agency of the deaf refugees with whom they work. Through conducting research with adult deaf refugees, it can balance and complement the scholarship and media which largely focuses on children. This project aims to bring a multi-disciplinary approach in applying concepts from Disability, Refugee, and Deaf Studies such as the combination of place-making and DeafSpace and the ways in which refugees with disabilities and deaf refugees are the same but different. As deaf refugees are doubly displaced, both from the hearing world and as refugees - this study aims to enrich the understanding of displacement and agency within displacement. Through accessible and participatory research practices, the narratives and agency of deaf refugees can be upheld and highlighted through this research project. In exploring and recognizing the experiences and agency of deaf refugees in Jordan and Lebanon in these ways, the gaps identified in this critical literature review can begin to be filled and the fields of Refugee Studies, Disability Studies, and Deaf Studies can become more inclusive of this unique, but overlooked, minority.

Acknowledgements:

This research would not be possible without the guidance of: Professor Cathrine Brun, Dr. Supriya Akerkar, and Dr. Maha Shuayb, among the many brilliant teachers and colleagues in my life, and the constant support of my family, friends, and partner. Simply: Thank you.

References

Ahearn, L.M. (2001) 'Language and agency', *Annual Review of Anthropology*, 30(1), pp.109-137.

Akamatsu, C.T. and Cole, E. (2000) 'Meeting the psychoeducational needs of deaf immigrant and refugee children', *Canadian Journal of School Psychology*, 15(2), pp.1-18.

Akamatsu, T. and Cole, E. (2003) 'Deaf immigrant and refugee children: A different kind of multiculturalism', *Effective consultation in school psychology*, pp.296-321.

Akamatsu, C.T. and Cole, E. (2004) 'Deaf immigrant and refugee children: Institutional and cultural clash.' *Literacy and deaf people: Cultural and contextual perspectives*, pp.110-138.

Al-Fityani, K. and Padden, C. (2010) 'Sign language geography in the Arab world. Sign languages: A Cambridge survey (20).

Al Jazeera English (2018) *Heartwarming story of a deaf Syrian boy* [Facebook] 12 August. Available at: https://www.facebook.com/watch/?v=10156991324093690 (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Al Jazeera English (2019) *The deaf music teacher helping Palestinian children* [Facebook] 17 February. Available at: https://www.facebook.com/watch/?v=2242386775975786 (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Australia Aid (2018a) Removing Barriers: The Path towards Inclusive Access: Disability Assessment among Syrian Refugees in Jordan and Lebanon: Jordan Report. Available at: https://www.dfat.gov.au/sites/default/files/removing-barriers-the-path-towards-inclusive-access-jordan-report.pdf (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Australia Aid (2018b) Removing Barriers: The Path towards Inclusive Access: Disability Assessment among Syrian Refugees in Jordan and Lebanon: Lebanon Report. Available at: https://www.dfat.gov.au/sites/default/files/removing-barriers-the-path-towards-inclusive-access-lebanon-report.pdf (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Bakewell, O. (2010) 'Some reflections on structure and agency in migration theory', *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 36(10), pp.1689-1708.

Balachandra, S.K., Carroll, J.K., Fogarty, C.T. and Finigan, E.G. (2009) 'Family-centered maternity care for deaf refugees: The patient-centered medical home in action', *Families, Systems, & Health*, 27(4), p.362.

Barker, C. (2005) Cultural Studies: Theory and Practice. London: Sage. ISBN 978-0-7619-4156-9.

Bartram, D. (2015) 'Forced migration and "rejected alternatives": A conceptual refinement', *Journal of Immigrant & Refugee Studies*, 13(4), pp.439-456.

Bauman, H.D.L. and Murray, J.J. (2009) 'Deaf gain: Raising the stakes for human diversity', *Deaf Studies Digital Journal*, 1

Baynton, D.C. (2006) "The Undesirability of Admitting Deaf Mutes" US Immigration Policy and Deaf Immigrants, 1882–1924, Sign Language Studies, 6(4), pp.391-415.

Barpaga, R. (2011) Zoom 2011: Life is a Gift: Follow a Deaf Afghan immigrant's fight for asylum. Available at: https://www.bslzone.co.uk/watch/zoom-2011-life-gift (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

BBC News (2018) 'Crossing Divides: Austrian group helps deaf refugees learn sign language', *BBC*, 26 April. Available at: https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/av/world-europe-43898947/crossing-divides-austrian-group-helps-deaf-refugees-learn-sign-language (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Berger, R.J. (2008) 'Agency, structure, and the transition to disability: A case study with implications for life history research', *The Sociological Quarterly*, 49(2), pp.309-333.

Bourdieu, P. (1990) 'Structures, habitus, practices', *The Logic of Practice*, pp.52-65.

Breen, K.O. (2002) Investigation of Current Problems and Provisions for Asylum Seekers and Refugees who are Deaf and Hard of Hearing in the United Kingdom and the United States. Doctoral dissertation. University of Limerick.

Breivik, J.K. (2007) 'Deaf Identities in the Making; Local Lives, Transnational Connections', *Scandinavian Journal of Disability Research*, 9(1), pp. 61-64

Brook, I. (2003) 'Making Here Like There: Place Attachment, Displacement and the Urge to Garden', *Ethics, Place & Environment*, 6:3, pp.227-234

Brun, C. (2001) 'Reterritorilizing the relationship between people and place in refugee studies', *Geografiska Annaler: Series B, Human Geography*, 83:1, pp.15-25

Centre for Excellence in Universal Design (2020) *What is Universal Design.* Available at: http://universaldesign.ie/What-is-Universal-Design/ (Accessed: 1 June 2020)

Channel 4 News (2016) *The boy who wouldn't talk* [Facebook] 12 September. Available at: https://www.facebook.com/watch/?v=10154054872496939 (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Charlton, J.I. (1998) Nothing About Us Without Us. University of California Press.

Crock, M.; Ernst, C.; McCallum, R. (2013) 'Where Disability and Displacement Intersect: Asylum Seekers and Refugees with Disabilities', *Int. J. Refugee Law*, 24, p. 735–764. Available

at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/275001952 Where Disability and Displac ement_Intersect_Asylum_Seekers_and_Refugees_with_Disabilities (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Crock, M., Smith-Khan, L., McCallum, R. and Saul, B. (2017) *The Legal Protection of Refugees with Disabilities: Forgotten and Invisible?* Cheltenham, UK: Edward Elgar

Deaf Planet Soul (2015) *Deaf Planet Soul: Signs of Hope.* Available at: https://www.deafplanetsoul.org/deaf-refugee-initiative.html (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Deaf Refugee Advocacy (2017) *Deaf Refugee Advocacy Rochester, NY.* Available at: https://www.deafrefugeeadvocacy.org/services (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Degener, T. (2014) 'A human rights model of disability', Disability social rights, pp.1-30.

Edwards, C. and Harold, G. (2014) 'DeafSpace and the principles of universal design', *Disability and rehabilitation*, 36(16), pp.1350-1359.

Elder, B.C. (2015) 'Stories from the margins: Refugees with disabilities rebuilding lives', *Societies Without Borders*, 10(1), pp. 2

Emery, S. and Iyer, S. (no date) 'Labour Migration', *MobileDeaf*, Available at: https://mobiledeaf.org.uk/labour-migration/ (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Emery, S. (2020) 'Using Bourdieu's theories to frame research with deaf migrants', *MobileDeaf*, 23 January. Available at: https://mobiledeaf.org.uk/bourdieu/ (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

European Union of the Deaf & the European Federation of Sign Language Interpreters (2012) *International Sign.* Available at: https://www.eud.eu/about-us/eud-position-paper/international-sign-guidelines/ (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Father Andeweg Institute for the Deaf (no date) *FAID School for the Deaf.* Available at: http://www.faid-lb.org/ (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Fischbeck, C.R., (2018) Working with Immigrant and Refugee Deaf Students: Strategies and Decision-Making Processes of Interpreters. MA Thesis. St. Catherine University. Available at: https://sophia.stkate.edu/maisce/4/ (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Friedner, M. and Kusters, A., (2015) It's a small world: International deaf spaces and encounters. Washington, DC: Gallaudet University Press.

Gallaudet University (no date) *Deaf Space*. Available at: https://www.gallaudet.edu/campus-design-and-planning/deafspace (Accessed: 1 May 2020)

Groce, N.E. (1985) Everyone here spoke sign language: Hereditary deafness on Martha's Vineyard. Harvard University Press.

Gulliver, M. (2009) 'DEAF space, a history: The production of DEAF spaces in Emergent, Autonomous, Located and Disabled in 18th and 19th century France', PhD Thesis. University of Bristol. Available at:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/316688505 (Accessed: 1 June 2020)

Heap, M. (2006) 'Sign-deaf spaces The Deaf in Cape Town creating community crossing boundaries constructing identity', *Anthropology Southern Africa*, 29(1-2), pp. 35-44

HelpAge International and Handicap International (2014) *Hidden Victims of the Syrian Crisis: disabled, injured and older refugees.* Wiltshire, UK: Park Lane Press. Available at: https://www.helpage.org/download/537207495fe87 (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Hendriks, B. and Baker, A., (2008) *Jordanian Sign Language: Aspects of grammar from a cross-linguistic perspective*. PhD dissertation. University of Amsterdam, Utrecht. Available at: https://pure.uva.nl/ws/files/4282918/144182 thesis.pdf (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Hochgesang, J.A. and McAuliff, K. (2016) 'An initial description of the deaf community in Haiti and Haitian Sign Language (LSH)', Sign Language Studies, 16(2), pp.227-294.

Holy Land Institute for the Deaf. 2004. 1964-2004: The Holy Land Institute for the Deaf-Salt, Jordan. [Brochure]. Salt, Jordan.

lyer, S. (2019) 'Brexit and Deaf Migrants: access to information and support provision remains a serious concern', *MobileDeaf*, 6 May. Available at: https://mobiledeaf.org.uk/brexitdeaf/ (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Kaiser, T. (2008) 'Social and Ritual Activity In and Out of Place: the 'Negotiation of Locality' in a Sudanese Refugee Settlement', *Mobilities*, 3:3, pp. 375-395

Kandiyoti, D. (1988) 'Bargaining with patriarchy', Gender & Society, 2(3), pp.274-290.

Kusters, A. (2015) *Deaf Space in Adamorobe*. Washington, D.C.: Gallaudet University Press

Kusters, A. and Friedner, M. (2015) *It's a Small World: International Deaf Spaces and Encounters*. Washington D.C.: Gallaudet University Press

Ladd, P. (2003) *Understanding Deaf Culture: In Search of Deafhood.* Clevedon, UK: Multilinguial Matters Press

Ladd, P. (2005) 'Deafhood: A concept stressing possibilities, not deficits', *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, 33(66), pp.12-17.

Lambert, H. (2005) 'The European Convention on Human Rights and the protection of refugees: limits and opportunities', *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, 24(2).

le Marie, A (no date) 'Forced Migration', *MobileDeaf*, Available at: https://mobiledeaf.org.uk/forced-migration/ (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

le Marie, A. (2020) "The gift of hearing": hearing aids as a quick fix in Kakuma Refugee Camp', *MobileDeaf*, 7 April. Available at: https://mobiledeaf.org.uk/hearingaids/ (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

le Marie, A. (2018a) 'Deaf spaces and sign languages in Kakuma Refugee Camp', *MobileDeaf*, 24 May. Available at: https://mobiledeaf.org.uk/1105-2/ (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

le Marie, A. (2018b) 'Entering Kakuma Refugee Camp', *MobileDeaf*, 26 February. Available at: https://mobiledeaf.org.uk/entering-kakuma-refugee-camp/ (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Lems, A. (2016) 'Placing Displacement: Place-making in a World of Movement', *Ethnos*, 81:2, pp. 315-337

Lewis, S.B. (1988) A Family Sign Handbook: Teaching Sign Language to Family Members of Deaf Southeast Asian Refugees in the Holding Camp Environment. Doctoral dissertation. School for International Training.

Levitt, J.M. (2017) 'Developing a model of disability that focuses on the actions of disabled people', *Disability & Society*, 32(5), pp.735-747.

Marshall, J.E. and Barrett, H. (2017) 'Understanding Sexual and Gender-Based Violence against Refugees with a Communication Disability and challenges to accessing appropriate support: A literature review' [Dataset] (unpublished) Available at: https://espace.mmu.ac.uk/id/eprint/620167 (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Marshall, J.E., Barrett, H. and Ebengo, A. (2017) 'Vulnerability of refugees with communication disabilities to SGBV: evidence from Rwanda', *Forced Migration Review*, 55(June), pp.74-76.

Marshall, J. and Barrett, H. (2018) 'Human rights of refugee-survivors of sexual and gender-based violence with communication disability', *International journal of speechlanguage pathology*, 20(1), pp.44-49.

Mendoza, S. (2016) 'Deaf Refugees in Syracuse Work to Overcome Unique Challenges', *NewsHouse*, September, 7. Available at: https://ww2.thenewshouse.com/story/deaf-refugees-syracuse-work-overcome-unique-challenges (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Mirza (2010) 'Resettlement for disabled refugees', *Forced Migration Review*, (35), pp.30.

Mirza (2011) 'Disability and Humanitarianism in Refugee Camps: the case for a travelling supranational disability praxis', *Third World Quarterly*, 32(8), pp.1527-1536.

Mirza (2012) 'Occupational upheaval during resettlement and migration: Findings of global ethnography with refugees with disabilities', *OTJR: occupation, participation and health*, 32(1_suppl), pp.S6-S14.

Mirza (2014) 'Refugee Camps, Asylum Detention, and the Geopolitics of Transnational Migration: Disability and Its Intersections with Humanitarian Confinement' In *Disability incarcerated*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan, pp. 217-236.

Mirza (2017) 'Disability-inclusive healthcare in humanitarian camps: Pushing the boundaries of disability studies and global health', *Disability and the Global South*, 2(1), pp. 479-500

Mitchell, R.E. and Karchmer, M. (2004) 'Chasing the mythical ten percent: Parental hearing status of deaf and hard of hearing students in the United States', *Sign Language Studies*, 4(2), pp.138-163.

MobileDeaf (no date) *Deaf mobilities across international borders: Visualising intersectionality and translanguaging.* Available at: https://mobiledeaf.org.uk/ (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Moers, P.W. (2017) 'From the World's Trouble Spots They Arrive in Our Classrooms: Working with Deaf Refugees and Immigrants', *Odyssey: New Directions in Deaf Education*, 18, pp.44-49.

NCDS (2020) *Deafness in Developing Countries*. Available at: https://www.ndcs.org.uk/deaf-child-worldwide/about-deaf-child-worldwide/deafness-in-developing-countries/ (Accessed: 1 June 2020)

Oliver, M. and Sapey, B. (1999) *Social work with disabled people.* Macmillan International Higher Education.

Oliver, M. (2013) 'The social model of disability: Thirty years on', *Disability & Society*, 28(7), pp.1024-1026.

Olsen, E.T. (2018) 'Deaf and refugee–a different situation', *Border Crossing*, 8(1), pp.237-254.

Olsen, E. T. (2019). 'Cooperation as coping mechanism when interpreting between deaf refugees and hearing professionals', *International Journal of Interpreter Education*, 11(2), pp.16-27.

Pearce, E. (2012) Refugees and displaced persons with disabilities–from forgotten to vulnerable to valuable. *Forced Migration Review*, (25th Anniversary collection).

Pearce, E. (2017) "Ask us what we need": Operationalizing Guidance on Disability Inclusion in Refugee and Displaced Persons Programs", *Disability and the Global South*, 2(1), pp. 460-478

Reimers, R.R. (2011) Influences of personal culture on the writing of a deaf refugee high school student from Somalia. Doctoral dissertation. Walden University. Available at: https://search.proquest.com/openview/97c83215714b218774f6c34163557b21/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=18750&diss=y (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Rogers, C. (2019) 'A Tale of Two Camps: The Dissociation of Kakuma and Dadaab under the Self-Reliance Agenda in Kenya', *Refugee Law Initiative*, 15 May. Available at: https://rli.blogs.sas.ac.uk/2019/05/15/a-tale-of-two-camps-the-dissociation-of-kakuma-and-dadaab-under-the-self-reliance-agenda-in-kenya/ (Accessed: 1 May 2020)

Saghir, S. (2017) *Improving the Process: Rochester's Refugee Deaf and Hard-of-Hearing Patients*. National Medical Fellowships. Available at: https://nmfonline.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/Saghir-Sara-Report.pdf (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Sampson, R. and Gifford, S. (2010) 'Place-making, settlement and well-being: The therapeutic landscapes of recently arrived youth with refugee backgrounds', Health and Place, 16(1), pp.116-131

Scott, P.R. (2015) Development of peer education with deaf sign language teachers in *Jordan. Unpublished MA thesis.* University of Central Lancashire.

Seek The World (2019) *Sparrow Furniture: A Deaf Syrian Refugee*. 11 February. Available at: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=BEvwnRZf-HY (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Senghas, R.J. and Monaghan, L. (2002) 'Signs of their times: Deaf communities and the culture of language', *Annual Review of Anthropology*, 31(1), pp.69-97.

Simmons, P. and Deaf Education Without Borders (2019) *Project 2: (TBA) Sign Language Family Tree.* Available at: https://www.dewbworld.org/project-2 (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Sivunen, N. (2019) 'An Ethnographic study of deaf refugees seeking asylum in Finland', *Societies*, 9(1), p.2.

Shakespeare, T. (2006) 'The social model of disability', *The disability studies reader*, 2, pp.197-204.

Solvang, P.K. and Haualand, H. (2014) 'Accessibility and diversity: Deaf space in action', *Scandinavian Journal of Disability Research*, 16(1), pp.1-13.

Starkey Foundation (2018) 'Sharing Hope in Kakuma', *Starkey Foundation*, 11 March. Available at: https://www.starkeyhearingfoundation.org/Blog/2018/03/Sharing-Hope-In-Kakuma (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Starkey Foundation (2014) 'Musanze, Butare', *Starkey Foundation*, March. Available at: https://www.starkeyhearingfoundation.org/missions/2014/03/rwanda-musanze-butare (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Turmusani, M. (1999) 'Disability Policy and Provision in Jordan: A critical perspective', Disability and development: Learning from action and research on disability in the majority world, pp.193-209.

UNDESA (2006) Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities – Articles. Available at: https://www.un.org/development/desa/disabilities/convention-on-the-rights-of-persons-with-disabilities-2.html (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

UNHCR (2011) *UNHCR Resettlement Handbook.* Geneva: UNHCR Division of International Protection. Available at: https://www.unhcr.org/46f7c0ee2.pdf (Accessed: 1 June 2020)

UNHCR (2017a) *Handbook for Interpreters in Asylum Procedures.* Vienna: UNHCR Austria. Available at: https://www.unhcr.org/dach/wp-content/uploads/sites/27/2017/09/AUT_Handbook-Asylum-Interpreting_en.pdf (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

UNHCR (2017b) *UNHCR Lebanon Shelter*. Available at: https://www.unhcr.org/lb/shelter

UNHCR (2018a) *Global Trends: Forced Displacement in 2018*. Available at: https://www.unhcr.org/statistics/unhcrstats/5d08d7ee7/unhcr-global-trends-2018.html (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

UNHCR (2018b) *UN Refugee Chief visits special school in Lebanon* [Facebook] 9 March. Available at: https://www.facebook.com/watch/?v=10157488960493438 (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

UNHCR (2019a) *Fact Sheet Jordan.* Available at: (Accessed: 1 April 2020). http://reporting.unhcr.org/sites/default/files/UNHCR%20Jordan%20Fact%20Sheet%20-%20November%202019_0.pdf (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

UNHCR (2019b) *The Syrian brothers were born deaf... a viral video changes their lives* [Facebook] 6 January. Available at:

https://www.facebook.com/watch/?v=10158381279503438 (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

UNHCR (2020a) *Dadaab Refugee Complex*. Available at: https://www.unhcr.org/ke/dadaab-refugee-complex (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

UNHCR (2020b) Fact Sheet Lebanon. Available at: http://reporting.unhcr.org/sites/default/files/UNHCR%20Lebanon%20Fact%20Sheet%20-%20January%202020.pdf (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

UNHCR (2020c) *Kakuma Refugee Camp and Kalobeyei Integrated Settlement*. Available at: https://www.unhcr.org/ke/kakuma-refugee-camp (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Wehmeyer, M.L. (2004) 'Beyond self-determination: Causal agency theory, *Journal of Developmental and Physical Disabilities*, 16(4), pp.337-359.

Willoughby, L. (2008) Catering to a Diverse Community: a report on the situation and needs of deaf people from migrant backgrounds living in Victoria. Melbourne Vic. Australia: The Victorian Deaf Society and Victorian Multicultural Commission.

Willoughby, L.J.V. (2015) 'Deaf children and youth from refugee backgrounds: pressing issues and possible solutions', in Crock, M. (ed.) *Creating New Futures: Settling Children and Youth from Refugee Backgrounds.* Annandale NSW Australia: Federation Press, pp. 197-212.

Women's Refugee Commission (2012) *Gender-based Violence among Displaced Women and Girls with Disabilities: Findings from Field Visits 2011 – 2012.* Available at: https://www.womensrefugeecommission.org/research-resources/gender-based-violence-among-displaced-women-and-girls-with-disabilities-findings-from-field-visits-2011-2012/ (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Women's Refugee Commission, UNHCR, Handicap International, and HelpAge International (2015) *Sharing and learning on inclusion of aging and disability in the Syrian crisis*. Available at: https://s33660.pcdn.co/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/Sharing-and-learning-on-inclusion-of-aging-and-disability-in-the-Syrian-crisis-ENGLISH.pdf. (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Women's Refugee Commission (2017) Working with Refugees with Disabilities: Building peer networks among refugees & host community persons with disabilities. Available at: https://s33660.pcdn.co/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/Urban-GBV-LASA-Beirut-Case-Study.pdf (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Plan International and Women's Refugee Commission (2019) AGD Tip Sheet for GRF Pledges: Helping Ensure Age, Gender, and Diversity Inclusive Pledges and Good Practices for the Global Refugee Forum. Available at: https://s33660.pcdn.co/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/AGD-Tip-Sheet-for-the-GRF-July2019.pdf (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Women's Refugee Commission (2020a) *Disability Program Fact Sheet.* Available at: https://www.womensrefugeecommission.org/research-resources/disability-fact-sheet-2017/ (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Women's Refugee Commission (2020b) *Gender and Social Inclusion*. Available at: https://www.womensrefugeecommission.org/focus-areas/gender-social-inclusion/ (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Women's Refugee Commission (2020c) *Staff.* Available at: https://www.womensrefugeecommission.org/about/staff/ (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

World Federation of the Deaf (2016a) *Know and Achieve Your Human Rights Toolkit.* Available at: https://2tdzpf2t7hxmggqhq3njno1y-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/7.-Human-Rights-Toolkit.pdf (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

World Federation of the Deaf (2016b) *Our Work*. Available at: http://wfdeaf.org/our-work/ (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

World Health Organization (2011) *World Report on Disability*. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization. Available at: http://www.who.int/disabilities/world_report/2011/ report/en/ (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Youngs, M. (2010) Real people, real needs: Deaf Education in Dadaab refugee camp in Kenya. Doctoral dissertation. University of Toronto. Available at: https://tspace.library.utoronto.ca/bitstream/1807/25685/3/Youngs_Megan_201011_MA_thesis.pdf (Accessed: 1 May 2020).

Zetter, R. & Boano, C. (2009) 'Space and place after natural disasters and forced displacement', in Lizarralde, G., Johnson, C. and Davidson, C. (eds.) *Rebuilding After Disasters: From Emergency to Sustainability.* Routledge, pp. 206-230

Centre for Development and Emergency Practice

School of Architecture
Oxford Brookes University

Headington Campus Gipsy Lane Oxford UK OX3 0BP

Tel: +44 (0) 1865 483200 Fax: +44 (0) 1865 483298

cendep@brookes.ac.uk